1986

Lynno Matt Harry v. Fred Schwendiman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was arrested September 8, 1983, and charged with being in actual physical control of a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol. His driver's license was taken and he was issued a temporary license, good for 30 days. (DUI citation R. 12)

He timely requested a hearing before the Department of Public Safety, Office of Driver License Services (hereinafter referred to as "the department"). (Letter from McRae & DeLand, R. 12) He was notified of the hearing to be held September 28, 1983, by notice dated and mailed September 23, 1983. (Letter from Office of Driver License Service dated September 23, 1983, R. 12) Appellant and counsel appeared at the time and place set for hearing, but no hearing examiner from the department was present. (TR. pgs. 19-20)

Appellant was notified of another hearing by oral notification to his counsel (TR. 20) and a per se hearing was held before the department October 5, 1983. (TR. p. 30)

The arresting officer was not present at the hearing, but the hearing examiner considered his notarized statement and the results of the breathalyzer test contained in his statement. (TR. 16) In the officer's report he stated that

the appellant was sitting in the driver's seat, with the keys in the ignition and in the "on" position, and that the vehicle was rolling backward. (R. 12, DUI Report Form)

Appellant was present at the hearing with counsel. The hearing examiner summarized his testimony as follows:

Driver testified that he was sitting in a vehicle within the impound lot at G & L Motors of Roosevelt, Utah. He states that the vehicle was not running and that he was not going to go anywhere, but was waiting for his wife to come and pick him up to take him home. He states that the vehicle was not running, and not registered. (R.. 12 Facts and Findings)

Prior to the hearing held October 5, appellant received a Notice from the Department that his drivers license was suspended for 90 days. (R. 12, Order of Suspension dated October 3, 1983) Counsel for appellant was informed at the hearing that said notice of suspension was the final notice appellant would receive from the department. (TR. 25)

He timely petitioned the district court for an order reinstating his driving privileges, which petition was filed October 17, 1983. (R. 1-5) A hearing was held before the Honorable Boyd Bunnell on November 8, 1983, wherein appellant challenged the constitutionality of §41-2-19.6 U.C.A. on its face and as applied, and requested that if the court upheld the statute, it find the decision of the department to be arbitrary or capricious. Appellant's counsel proffered Exhibits 1 and 2, letters evidencing counsel's attempt to obtain subpoenas at hearings before the department and the

denial of their request. (TR. p. 22, lines 1-9) (TR p.29-30) (Copies of Exhibits 1 and 2 are attached hereto). His Petition was denied. (R. 13) Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order were signed by Judge Bunnell on November 21, 1983 and filed November 28, 1983 denying appellant's petition. (R. 21-23)

Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed December 16, 1983. (R. 27-28)

He was found not guilty in his criminal trial held October 31, 1983. (Traffic Docket from Roosevelt Circuit Court and TR. 24) His driving privileges were reinstated on October 17, 1983, by the Honorable Richard C. Davidson, judge of the Seventh Judicial District Court, pending a hearing on his Petition (R. 6-7) and again after the denial of his petition, pending this appeal. (R. 16-17)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SECTION 41-2-19.6 U.C.A. IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED AS VIOLATIVE OF THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND ARTICLE I, §7 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

Section 41-2-19.6 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) with an effective date of August 1, 1983, provides that when a peace officer has reasonable grounds to believe a person has

violated §41-6-44 U.C.A. (driving or being in actual physical control of a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol) the officer shall take the Utah's driver's license and issue a temporary license effective for thirty days. If no action is taken by the driver his or her license is automatically suspended for ninety days, with no provision for a restricted license to drive to and from work. If the arrested person requests a hearing within ten days of the date of arrest, a hearing shall be held no later than thirty days from the date of arrest and issuance of the thirty day license.

The statute further provides that:

(5) The hearing shall be documented and its scope shall cover the issues of whether a peace officer had reasonable grounds to believe the person to have been operating a motor vehicle in violation of Section 41-6-44, whether the person refused to submit to the test, and the test results, if any. In connection with a hearing the department . . . may administer oaths and may issue subpoenas for the attendance of witnesses and the production of relevant books and papers.

Section 41-2-20 U.C.A. allows a person whose license has been suspended by the department to petition the district court for a hearing. The court's jurisdiction is limited to a review of the record to determine whether or not the department's decision was arbitrary or capricious.

The Utah legislature has attempted to set up a procedure whereby a driver is given the opportunity to have a hearing prior to the time his suspension becomes final.

Appellant does not challenge the timing of the administrative hearing, but challenges the adequacy of the hearing

Once licenses are issued, as in petitioner's case, their continued possession may become essential in the pursuit of a livelihood. Suspension of issued licenses thus involves state action that adjudicates important interests of the licensees. In such cases licenses are not to be taken away without that procedural due process required by the 14th Amendment. (Citations omitted) This is but an application of the general proposition that relevant constitutional restraints limit state power to terminate an entitlement whether the entitlement is denominated a "right" or a "privilege". Bell v. Burson, 402 US, at 539, 29 L.Ed2d 90, 91 S.Ct. 1586 (1971)

The United States Supreme Court has dealt with the issue of timing, and to what extent due process requires a presuspension hearing. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 US 319, 333, 47 L.Ed2d 18, 96 S.Ct. 893 (1976) applied a three step analysis which has been followed in Dixon v. Love, 431 U.S. 105, 52 L.Ed2d 172, 97 S.Ct. 1723 (1977) and Mackey v. Montrym, 443 U.S. 1, 61 L.Ed2d 321, 99 S.Ct. 2612 (1979) as being applicable to statutes suspending a driver's license.

In Dixon v. Love, supra, the court upheld a statute against constitutional challenges, which provided for an initial summary decision suspending the motorist's license based on official records that a driver had been convicted of three moving traffic violations within a twelve month period. As early as practicable after the suspension, and prior to the time it became final, a full evidenciary hearing was

available. The case presented an issue of timing of the hearing and not adequacy of the hearing.

Also in Mackey v. Montrym, supra, the question raised was one of timing of the hearing, not adequacy. The court upheld a statute which allowed for suspension of a driver's license, based upon an officer's written report that the driver had refused to submit to a chemical test, without providing for a presuspension hearing. The court noted at page 333 the driver could obtain a prompt hearing to resolve factual disputes. The court also noted at page 328 footnote 5 that the driver could adjourn the hearing to permit the attendance of witnesses, who were then subject to cross-examination.

Although Dixon v. Love, supra and Mackey v. Montrym, supra, have allowed suspensions prior to a hearing in certain circumstances, in both cases, the statutes provided for prompt and full evidenciary hearings prior to the final suspension.

The hearings held before the department are quasi-judicial in that the hearing examiner is empowered to investigate facts, weight evidence, draw conclusions, and exercise discretion of a judicial nature.

In speaking of the necessary administrative due process requirements in quasi-judicial hearings, the United States Supreme Court has held:

All parties must be fully appraised of the evidence submitted or to be considered and must

be given opportunity to cross-examine witnesses, to inspect documents, and to offer evidence in explanation or rebuttal. In no other way can a party maintain its right or make its defense. In no other way can it test the sufficiency of the facts to support the findings . . . ICC v. Louisville & Nashville R.R. Co., 227 U.S. 88 (1913)

Bell v. Burson, supra is most applicable in this case as it addressed the adequacy of the hearing, rather than dealing with the issue of suspension prior to a hearing being afforded. The hearing required by the Due Process Clause must be "meaningful" and "appropriate to the nature of the case."

The Utah Supreme Court has also recognized that the "right to drive is a valuable right or privilege and it cannot be taken away without procedural due process." Ballard v. State Motor Vehicle Division, 595 P.2d 1302 (1979).

In various state court cases, where the issue of sufficiency of the hearing has been raised, it is generally held that the driver has the right to cross-examine witnesses and to confront his accusers at the hearing. See 60 ALR3d 427 License Revocation - Sufficiency of Hearing §5 and cases cited therein where courts have held that hearings based solely upon officers' written reports, violated the driver's right to be confronted by his accusers and right to cross examination. In Re Sweeney, 257 A2d 764 (Del. 1969) The statute providing for a hearing meant a "fair" hearing and suspension was vacated because officer did not appear at hearing. In Application of Goodwin, 173 Misc 169, 17 NYS2d 426 (1940), substantial rights

of the motorist were violated where the affidavit of the police officer was received and the driver had no chance to be confronted by his accuser.

Therefore, the United States Supreme Court, Utah Supreme Court and courts from numerous other jurisdictions have all held that due process requires a "meaningful" hearing and this in turn requires that a person be allowed the opportunity to confront his accusers, to cross-examine them, and to be empowered to subpoena other witnesses on his behalf.

Appellant's license was revoked by the department solely upon the notarized report of an officer who was not present. The right to cross-examination is vital to insure that procedural requirements set forth in statute and case law are complied with, in addition to ascertaining the truth. Two examples come to mind: The Utah statute requires that the hearing be conducted upon the "sworn" report of the officer. §41-2-19.6(4) U. C. A. Appellant had no opportunity to question the officer as to whether or not he did in fact make an affirmative act of swearing at the time in compliance with the recent case of Colman v. Schwendiman, No. 18652 (Filed Feb. 29, 1984 Utah). There was no evidence he was qualified to operate the breathalyzer machine, or that he complied with the other standards set forth in State v. Baker, 56 Wash.2d 846, 355 P.2d 806, 809 (1960).

Although the state should have the burden of producing the officer, even if a driver wanted to subpoena the officer, or any other witness on his behalf, department policy has been to deny drivers any subpoenas unless they first request the subpoenas in writing and state the anticipated testimony. (Proffered Exhibits 1 and 2) Given the time limitations in these hearings, which is often less than five days, it is impossible for drivers to request the subpoenas in writing and obtain them prior to the hearings and get them served.

The statute only requires that the examiner "may" issue subpoenas for the attendance of witnesses, not that he "must" issue them at the driver's request. In Beatty v. Hults, 22 App.Div.2d 740, 253 NYS2d 327 (NY 1964) the driver's license suspension was reversed for failure of the examiner to issue requested subpoenas.

Also, the statute does not provide what prior notice of the hearing, if any, must be given the motorists. In this case notice of a hearing to be held September 28 was dated and mailed September 23. September 23, 1983, was a Friday. Allowing three working days for mail delivery this would be one day prior notice of the hearing. Although not binding on administration agencies, Rule 6 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure require five days prior notice of hearings on motions, excluding weekends and holidays, and allowing for

three days for service by mail. It is questionable whether one day prior notice in appellant's case is adequate under the due process requirements. The statute on its face is silent as to what prior notice is sufficient and could be interpreted to allow for even one hours notice. Due process is an opportunity to be heard and "it is an opportunity which must be granted to a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 14 L.Ed2d 62, 85 S.Ct. 1187 (1965)

The statute is unconstitutional on its face in that the hearing is conducted solely upon the sworn report of an absent officers; it does not mandate that the hearing examiner provide the motorists with subpoenas; and it is silent as to what prior notice be given the motorist of the hearing date. For the same reasons, it is unconstitutional as applied in this case in that the officer did not appear; counsel for appellant had previously been denied subpoenas unless first requesting them in writing and given the time limitations (notice mailed on the 23rd for hearing to be held on the 28th) an attempt to request subpoenas would have been futile.

POINT II

THE DEPARTMENT'S DECISION WAS ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS.

The department's decision was based totally on hearsay evidence, inasmuch as the officer did not appear at the hearing, but submitted his sworn report which contained

the results of the breathalyzer test and several statements as to why he believed appellant was in actual physical control of a motor vehicle.

The department has determined that "The hearing officer shall not be bound by formal rules of evidence or procedure in administration of this hearing but shall consider all relevant evidence." (R.1 - Opening Statement of Hearing Examiner)

Although hearsay evidence is generally admissible within the State of Utah, in administrative proceedings, it is well established that the administrative hearing officer cannot base his findings wholly upon hearsay evidence.

In workman's compensation cases before the Industrial Commission, it has been determined that there must be at least a residuum of evidence to support the administrative hearing that would be competent in a court of law. Hackford v. Industrial Commission, 11 Utah 2d 312, 358 P.2d 899 (Utah 1961).

This principal is likewise applicable in hearings before the bank commissioner.

[T]his court has held that hearsay evidence is admissible before the Industrial Commission and the Public Service Commission. However, a finding of fact cannot be based solely upon hearsay evidence, but must be "supported by a residuum of legally competent evidence in a court of law." No sound reason appears why the same rule should not be applicable to proceedings before the bank commissioner. Sandy Bank v. Brimhal, 636 P12d 481 (Utah 1981)

The "legal residuum rule" is firmly established in Utah and widely recognized in jurisdictions throughout this country and in general works of law. See 36 ALR3d 12, Comment Note - Hearsay Evidence in Proceedings Before State Administrative Agencies, 1971. Also see 2 AmJur2d 577-581 Administrative Law, Section 691. That rule requires some residuum of evidence admissible in a court of law.

Clearly the breathalyzer test results are not admissible unless certain foundational requirements are met, none of which were present at appellant's hearing. Murray City v. Hall, No. 17329, (Filed April 13, 1983, Utah) and State v. Baker, supra.

Police reports containing matters observed by police officers are not admissible at a defendant's criminal trial. Rule 803 (8)(B) Utah Rules of Evidence. State v. Bertul, 644 P.2d 1181 (Utah 1983)

There was no "legal residuum" of evidence to support the administrative finding that the officer had reasonable grounds to believe appellant to have been in actual physical control of a vehicle and had a blood alcohol content of .08% or greater. Therefore the decision was arbitrary or capricious.

In Young v. Board of Pharmacy, 462 P.2d 139 (N.Mex. 1969) it was held that an administrative finding based solely on hearsay does not rise to the level of substantial evidence

and hence, is an arbitrary and capricious action.

Appellant was not afforded a "meaningful" hearing that complied with due process (Point I), nor was any evidence legally competent in a court of law offered against him, and therefore the department's decision was arbitrary or capricious.

POINT III

ACQUITTAL BY THE COURT OF THE CRIMINAL CHARGES BARS
SUSPENSION OF APPELLANT'S LICENSE.

As a general rule, acquittal on a criminal charge is not a bar to subsequent civil action arising out of the same facts on which the criminal proceeding was held. Criminal charges require proof beyond a reasonable doubt, whereas proof in civil actions and administrative hearings is of a lesser degree. See 96 ALR2d §612 which dealt with various state court decision.

However, Mackey v. Montyrm, supra, at 328 seems to support the proposition that a finding by a court is binding on the administrative agency. Montyrm received notice his license was suspended for failure to take a breath-analysis test. Rather than obtaining an immediate hearing before the Registrar, he took an appeal to the Board of Appeal. Prior to the time the Board of Appeal was to conduct a hearing, Montyrm's counsel made demand upon the Registrar for return of his license, and stated in the letter that he had been

acquitted of the driving under the influence charge, and asserted that the state court's finding that the officer had refused to administer the test was binding on the Registrar. The court sated:

Had Montrym's counsel enclosed a copy of the order dismissing the drunk-driving charge, the entire matter might well have been disposed of at that state without more.

In analyzing the issue of the necessity of a presuspension hearing, the court reasoned at page 332 the issue reaised by Montrym was not a "factual" one but rather a legal question; that is whether the court's subsequent finding that the police later refused to administer the test was binding on the Registrar as a matter of collateral estoppel.

The issue of collateral estoppel was not directly dealt with in Montrym, as the issue was not raised on appeal, but in the court's analysis of the case it intimated had counsel properly submitted the order dismissing the criminal charge to the Registrar, the matter may have been disposed of.

In appellant's case prior to hearing on his petition before the district court he was acquitted of the criminal charges. However, the trial judge refused to find it a bar to his suspension.

The factual issues were exactly the same in the department's hearing and in the district court, and no specific intent was involved in the criminal case.

The acquittal indicates appellant is not a safety hazard and therefore the purpose of §41-2-19.5 U.C.A. for suspension of licenses has not been fully complied with.

CONCLUSION

A hearing based upon the notarized report of an officer is not a "meaningful" hearing and denies motorists their constitutional rights to confront their accusers and cross-examine them. The department's policy of not allowing a driver's access to subpoenas is also a flagrant violation of constitutional rights.