1986

Lynno Matt Harry v. Fred C. Schwendiman : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

When weighed against the individual's interest in his driving "privileges" and the state's urgent interest in removing hazardous drivers from the highways, the pre-hearing administrative suspension process more than adequately protects drivers' due process rights.

POINT III

THE ADMINISTRATIVE SUSPENSION DECISION
WAS BASED ON RELIABLE AND COMPETENT LEGAL
EVIDENCE, THEREFORE NOT REQUIRING THE
PEACE OFFICER'S PRESENCE

The lack of the arresting officer's corroborative testimony at the administrative hearing serves as the basis of the appellant's major claims. The petitioner contends that the

arresting officer's presence at the hearing was mandatory because it fulfills two functions. First, that the officer's presence would satisfy the requirements of the "residuum rule." Second, that his presence would satisfy the petitioner's interest in cross-examination.

First, although the applicability of the residuum rule to driving privilege suspension cases is unsettled, in any event the rule's requirements have been met in this case. The residuum rule requires an agency decision to be supported by some "competent" evidence. Sandy State Bank v. Brimhall, 636 P.2d 481 (Utah 1981), Ogden Ironworks v. Industrial Commission, 102 Utah 492, 132 P.2d 376 (1942). In this case, the hearing officer did rely on "competent" testimonial and hearsay evidence in making the suspension decision, as was allowed in Zions Cooperative Merchantile Assoc. v. Industrial Commission of Utah, (Utah 1927), 262 P.2d 99.

If the evidence is an exception to the hearsay rule under the Utah Rules of Evidence, the officer's sworn report, corroborated or not by testimony, should be competent evidence upon which a decision could be based. This Court would have allowed that evidence under its own rules if it was a proper exception to the hearsay rule, part of the res gestae, even in the original case spawning apparently the residuum rule of evidence. Garfield Smelting Company v. Industrial Commission, 53

Utah 133, 178 P.2d 57 (1918). Of course, this Court has recently reaffirmed in Sandy State Bank v. Brimhall, supra at p. 486, "that the technical rules of evidence need not be applied" in hearings before administrative agencies and that "hearsay evidence is admissible in proceedings before the Industrial Commission and the Public Service Commission." The Court in stating that the findings of fact cannot be based solely upon hearsay evidence, but must be supported by a residuum of "legal evidence competent in a court of law", must have meant that any hearsay evidence under the trustworthiness and reliability exceptions to the hearsay rule, corroborated or not, would be acceptable. If that is not the rule, we submit that there appears here, in the interest of public safety, a "sound reason why the minority residuum rule should" not be applied. Sandy State Bank, id.

The officer's report is an exception to the hearsay exclusionary rule because this is a civil matter (Ballard v. Cox, 595 P.2d 1302, 1304 (1979)), and the source of the information and the circumstances of its preparation indicate trustworthiness. See Barney v. Cox, 588 P.2d 696 (Utah 1978), allowing hearsay driver license computerized records as "competent" evidence. Additionally, a specific exception for these reports is made under Rule 803(1), because they contain a first-hand immediate record of the event which is being perceived.

They are also admissible under Rule 803(6) as being a business entry exception or a record of a regularly conducted activity made at or near the time in the course of business of a regularly conducted business or institution, (see also Barney v. Cox, supra). They would be "competent" and self-authenticating under Rule 803(8) as a record and report setting forth an activity that the declarant has a "statutory duty to report." Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-19.6.

The Utah Supreme Court said in Barney v. Cox, supra, a driver license records case, "it is the type of evidence which will be excepted from the hearsay rule, not the type of organization (i.e. private or public) that is important." In that case Justice Hall cited the business entries exception of Utah Rules of Evidence (Rule 63), and also stated in a footnote that, "other subsections of Rule 63 may also apply as exceptions including (15) reports and findings of public officials and (17) contents of official record." Barney is cited by the framers of the Utah Rules of Evidence as being in support of subsection 6 of Rule 803 and subsection 8 on public records and reports. Like the reports in Barney, the reports in the civil proceedings here are ordinarily and regularly obtained by the Department from an individual trained to observe and gather the urgently needed information in an objective and reliable manner. Mackey v. Montrym, supra.

The Utah Supreme Court has upheld the admissibility of official records and sworn reports for substantive proof not only in Barney v. Cox, supra but also allowed a sworn official toxology report in Yacht Club v. Liquor Control Commission 681 P.2d 1224, 1227, supra. Also in Murray City v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314 (Utah 1983), a criminal case, this Court held that even though the results of the breathalyzer test were erroneously admitted, as a rule the test results (and the machine testing technician's affidavit) are admissible if the judge (or hearing examiner) finds them to be trustworthy under U.C.A. § 41-6-44.3. In that decision Justice Durham logically reasons that:

It is well recognized that the accused right of confrontation is not absolute. See e.g. State v. Maestes, Utah, 564 P.2d 1386 (1977). In certain instances it must yield to legitimate governmental interest. See e.g. State v. Walker, supra, 53 Ohio St.2d at 199, 374 N.E.2d at 136-37. The enactment of § 41-6-44.3 manifest an intent by the legislature to relieve the State of Utah and other governmental entities of the financial burden and inconvenience of calling as witnesses in every DUI case the accuracy of the breathalyzer machine. (Cite omitted.) Such a concern is a legitimate governmental interest. Section 41-6-44.3, devised to further that interest, constitutes a very limited intrusion upon the accused right of confrontation. (Emphasis added.) Id. at 1321.

The Murray City Court went on to point out that if the accused feels that the machine was not functioning properly "he/she can subpoena the public officer responsible for testing the accuracy of the breathalyzer and the ampoules." See Utah Code Anno. § 77-35-14 . See also Stroupe v. Commonwealth, supra. [215 Va. 243, 207 S.E.2d 894 (1974)] The court said:

Thus, given (1) the legitimate governmental interest in not having to produce in every DUI case the public officer responsible for testing the accuracy of the breathalyzer and the ampoules, and (2) the alternative means available to an accused to cross-examine and confront such a witness, we hold that § 41-6-44.3 does not violate the appellant's constitutional right of confrontation when all of its requirements are met. See State v. Walker, supra. [53 Ohio St. 2d 192, 374 N.E.2d 132 (1978)] See also People v. Tenorio, 197 Colo. 137, 590 P.2d 952 (1979) (stating that there is no violation of an accused's right of confrontation where the evidence is shown to be trustworthy and reliable). However, as previously discussed, the mandate of § 41-6-44.3 was not met in the present case. Therefore, the results of the breathalyzer test were erroneously admitted. Id., at 1322.

Justice Hall, concurring in that decision, wrote that the affidavit submitted in this case was admissible and did meet the foundational requirements of the statute. Id., at 1322-1323. This same fiscal need and urgent public right applies to the test results as well as to the officer's sworn report in this civil case.

The criminal case of State v. Bertul, 664 P.2d 1184 (Utah 1983), also proposes that a civil business record may be admitted irrespective of the type of organization from which it emanates. There, Justice Stewart pointed out that police records (Booking Reports) are admissible depending on the "nature of the record" and "the purpose for which they are offered." Even under this criminal case these sworn police officer reports, required by the civil statute, meet the business entries "and the like"

exception to the hearsay rule. This Court again, in that case cites Barney v. Cox, supra, for the statement that "it is the type of evidence which will be excluded by the hearsay rule, not the type of organization, i.e. public or private, that is important." Id. at 1183. Bertul was a criminal case and involved a conviction and a possible jail sentence and should not apply in these public safety cases being "civil cases" involving no possible fine or jail purposes. See Ballard v. Cox, 595 P.2d 1302 (1979).

We submit that the officer's sworn report is competent sworn documentary evidence in a court under the trustworthy hearsay exceptions and logic of the Utah Rules of Evidence and the reasoning and holdings of the Utah Supreme Court and other courts including federal ones. For example, as the United States Supreme Court said in Mackey v. Montrym, id. at p. 13 and 14 and p. 2619:

[He] is, by reason of his training and experience, well suited for the role the statute accords him in the presuspension process. And, as he is personally subject to civil liability for an unlawful arrest and to criminal penalties for willful misrepresentation of the facts, he has every incentive to ascertain accurately and truthfully report the facts . . . The risk of erroneous observation or deliberate misrepresentation of the facts by the reporting officer in the ordinary case seems insubstantial. Moreover, as this case illustrates, there will rarely be any genuine dispute as to the historical facts providing cause for a suspension.

Not only were the requirements of the residuum rule met through the competent documentary evidence, but they were also met by the direct testimonial evidence of the driver, relied upon by the department, believable or not.

Importantly, the driver/petitioner testified. T. at 28. Although the driver did not fully agree with the officer's report, in that he contended he was not in "actual physical control" of the vehicle, T. at 17 (an issue which has not been pursued by the petitioner) he did confirm that he was behind the wheel and that the car "could have been" moving, T. at 17-19 and 26-27, thus corroborating the officer's admissible sworn report with "competent", direct testimonial evidence.

In this case, the appellant's testimony at the administrative hearing, like the reliable documentary evidence, served to satisfy the requirements of the residuum of evidence rule and since he could have subpoenaed him and had him present, due process was granted.

A. The Presence of the Peace Officer
Was Not Otherwise Required

In support of his second proposition, that the officer's presence is otherwise necessary to satisfy the petitioner's interest in cross-examination, the petitioner cites I.C.C. v. Louisville & Nashville R.R. Co., 277 U.S. 88 (1913). The Louisville & Nashville language, quoted by the petitioner, seems to require a full-blown trial even though the proceeding is administrative. But much more limited proceedings are constitutionally permissible, and the Louisville & Nashville language should not be used to guide the driving privilege suspension cases.

Two factors immediately distinguish Louisville & Nashville from the case at hand. First, agencies have been accorded much greater freedom over the last 70 years since Louisville & Nashville was decided. Their expertise and convenience made them a valuable, modern necessity. Their desirable qualities would be lost, however, if every agency action required a full-blown trial.

Secondly, Louisville & Nashville involved complex, nationwide rate making. The extent of the hearing required was, accordingly, more elaborate than that where only two relatively simple public safety facts and issues are addressed as in license suspension cases.

Additionally, Louisville & Nashville has been narrowed to its facts by the United States Supreme Court. In 1973 the Court, in United States v. Florida East Coast R. Co., 410 U.S. 224 (1973), a case factually similar to Louisville & Nashville, held that some railroad rate making could be accomplished without the evidentiary hearing it required in Louisville & Nashville, even though the statute at issue required a "hearing." The court distinguished Florida East Coast from Louisville & Nashville saying that one involved "rulemaking" while the other involved "adjudication." However, the principle law difference between these cases, as Davis On Administrative Law points out, is that in Louisville & Nashville nationwide rate making was the issue.

While in Florida East Coast only the "specified rates" of a single railroad were at issue. K. Davis, Administrative Law Treatise, §§ 12:4, 14:10 (2d ed. 1976). See also K. Davis, Administrative Law Treatise, § 15.2 (1953).

Strangely, today, Louisville & Nashville is largely known for its inception of the rule, now accepted nationwide and in Utah, that the exclusionary rules of evidence do not apply to administrative agencies. See Opp Cotton Willis v. Administrator, 312 U.S. 126, 155 (1941), and Davis, (2d ed.) supra, at § 16:4. Sandy State Bank v. Brimhall, 636 P.2d 481, 486 (1981) affirmed that the "technical rule of evidence need not be applied " in administration proceedings.

The history of Louisville & Nashville illustrates the trend toward liberalizing administrative proceedings and accepting agencies as experts in their fields. Administrative officers, like the hearing officer which presided in this case, are experienced in Implied Consent cases, breath testing machines, and regulations and trained to weigh the evidence before them and determine the trustworthiness of that evidence.

The trustworthiness of the officer's sworn report is substantial. The report was sworn to by the officer and also double checked and endorsed with the authorized endorsing signature as required by the statute. It was received in the ordinary and regular course of business through regular, routine

departmental channels, on the department's own statutorily required forms. It appears on its face to be properly sworn to, verified and notarized. In other words, the source of the information and the circumstances of its preparation indicate its trustworthiness, acceptability and admissibility upon which the hearing officer could reasonably and naturally rely. Ballard v. Cox, supra, Barney v. Cox, 588 P.2d 696 (Utah 1978).

There is no absolute right to cross-examination, particularly in the administrative setting. The driver could have had the officer there. The Department had forms ready for that purpose. Murray City v. Hall, supra and infra. The trustworthiness of the report nullifies the need for the officer's presence particularly when the driver has an opportunity to testify himself. Thus, in Burkhart v. Department of Motor Vehicles, 124 Cal.App.3d 99, 177 Cal.Rptr.. 175 (1981), the California Court of Appeals held that the California statutory scheme for suspension clauses and that the officer's hearsay sworn statement could support a finding even against conflicting evidence. The Court pointed out that the officer's hearsay report was an official record of the Department and was made specifically admissible by the statute. The Court then pointed out that the petitioner could have called the arresting officer himself. The Court's reasoning is persuasive:

The physical presence of the officer at the hearing would not substantially enhance the

reliability of the hearing process. The officer and the licensee would engage in a swearing match and cross-examination of the officer would seldom reveal any weaknesses in his testimony, simply because the issues are neither complex nor subtle.

Finally, in reference to the governmental interest and the fiscal and administrative burdens involved if additional or substitute procedures are mandated, we note that governmental agencies at the state and local level are in a period of fiscal restraint. Police manpower resources are finite. It does not require the presence of the arresting officer at every hearing. The licensee has an absolute right to compel his attendance if he requests a subpoena, has it served and pays the statutory fee (§ 14104.5; Gov.Code, § 68097.2). In the event the licensee deems the officer's presence critical to his defense, the burden is properly placed on him to insure the officer's attendance. Many licensees may prefer that the officer not appear, so as to take his chances on his powers of persuasion working in the absence of conflicting live testimony. (Emphasis added.) Id. at 181.

The Utah Supreme Court has also specifically held that even in a criminal trial the individual's interest in cross-examination gives say to a trustworthy report balanced against the economic and administrative burden. Murray City v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314 at p. 1321 (Utah 1983).

The circumstances of this case indicate that the DUI report was trustworthy. The appellant does not indicate otherwise. Because of this the appellant's due process rights and interest in cross-examination have been satisfied, especially since the appellant did not make efforts to have the officer there..

POINT IV

THE PETITIONER'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED THE OPPORTUNITY TO SUBPOENA WITNESSES LACKS MERIT

The petitioner did not attempt to subpoena witnesses or obtain subpoenas regarding his administrative suspension hearing. T. at 31. Because he made no request for subpoenas (blank or specific) he lacks standing to claim that departmental policy makes subpoenas unavailable to aggrieved drivers. However, even if the petitioner had standing, this claim must fall, for the department provides reasonable procedures under which relevant witnesses may be subpoenaed. (See addendum subpoena form.)

Section 41-2-19.6, Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended, provides that "[i]n connection with a [license suspension] hearing the department or its duly authorized agents . . . may issue subpoenas for the attendance of witnesses and the production of relevant books and papers." It does not permit the issuance of innumerable blank subpoenas upon the request of the driver or his attorney. However, the statutory authority to subpoena witnesses and evidence are practical and reasonable, and prevent neither the acquisition of witnesses or evidentiary material.

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